

# Wise County Appraisal District

Texas County & District Retirement System

GASB 68 Report

For Measurement Date: December 31, 2015

Based on Actuarial Valuation Date: December 31, 2015

# Prepared by:

Mark Olleman

FSA, EA, MAAA

**Nick Collier** 

ASA, EA, MAAA

**Craig Glyde** 

ASA, EA, MAAA

Milliman, Inc. 1301 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3800 Seattle WA 98101-2605 Tel +1 206 624 7940 Fax +1 206 623 3485

milliman.com

# **Table of Contents**

Certification	1
Overview of GASB 67 and GASB 68	
Net Pension Liability / (Asset)	4
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return	5
Depletion of Plan Assets / GASB Discount Rate	6
Projection of Fiduciary Net Position	8
Changes in Net Pension Liability / (Asset)	9
Pension Expense / (Income)	10
Schedule of Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources	11
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios	12
Schedule of Employer Contributions	13
Appendix A— GASB 68 Plan Description for Wise County Appraisal District	15
Appendix B—Actuarial Methods and Assumptions Used for GASB Calculations	16
Appendix C—Actuarial Methods and Assumptions Used for Funding Valuation	17
Appendix D—Contributions Made Subsequent to Measurement Date	23
Appendix E—Summary of TCDRS Funding Policy	24
Appendix F. Glossary	29

#### Certification

Actuarial computations presented in this report under Statement No. 68 of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board are for purposes of assisting the plan sponsor in fulfilling their financial accounting requirements. No attempt is being made to offer any accounting opinion or advice. This report is for employers whose fiscal year end is between January 31, 2016 and December 31, 2016. The reporting date for determining plan assets and obligations is December 31, 2015. The calculations enclosed in this report have been made on a basis consistent with our understanding of the plan provisions. Determinations for purposes other than meeting financial reporting requirements may be significantly different than the results contained in this report. Accordingly, additional determinations may be needed for other purposes, such as judging benefit security or meeting employer funding requirements.

In preparing this report, we relied, without audit, on information as of December 31, 2015 furnished by the Texas County & District Retirement System (TCDRS). This information includes, but is not limited to, statutory provisions (as of January 1, 2016), member census data, and financial information.

We performed a limited review of the census and financial information used directly in our analysis and have found them to be reasonably consistent and comparable with information used for other purposes. The valuation results depend on the integrity of this information. If any of this information is inaccurate or incomplete, our results may be different and our calculations may need to be revised.

This report is only an estimate of the Plan's financial condition as of a single date. It can neither predict the Plan's future condition nor guarantee future financial soundness. All costs, liabilities, rates of interest, and other factors for the Plan have been determined on the basis of actuarial assumptions and methods which are individually reasonable (taking into account the experience of the Plan and reasonable expectations); and which in combination, offer a reasonable estimate of anticipated experience affecting the Plan.

Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements presented in this report due to factors such as, but not limited to, the following: plan experience differing from that anticipated by the economic or demographic assumptions; changes in economic or demographic assumptions; increases or decreases expected as part of the natural operation of the methodology used for these measurements (such as the end of an amortization period or additional cost or contribution requirements based on the plan's funded status); and changes in plan provisions or applicable law. Due to the limited scope of the actuarial assignment, we did not perform an analysis of the potential range of such future measurements.

Milliman's work is prepared solely for the internal business use of TCDRS. To the extent that Milliman's work is not subject to disclosure under applicable public records laws, Milliman's work may not be provided to third parties without Milliman's prior written consent. Milliman does not intend to benefit or create a legal duty to the participating employers or any other third party recipient of its work product. Milliman does not authorize the inclusion of Milliman's name or reports in any offering, memorandum, prospectus, securities filing, or solicitation of investment. Any third party recipient should engage qualified professionals for advice appropriate to its own specific needs. The consultants who worked on this assignment are pension actuaries. Milliman's advice is not intended to be a substitute for qualified legal or accounting counsel.

The signing actuaries are independent of the plan sponsor. We are not aware of any relationship that would impair the objectivity of our work.

On the basis of the foregoing, we hereby certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this report is complete and has been prepared in accordance with generally recognized accepted actuarial principles and practices. Specifically, our calculation of the Net Pension Liability (including the assumptions used) was performed in compliance with the relevant Actuarial Standards of Practice. We are members of the American Academy of Actuaries and meet the Qualification Standards to render the actuarial opinion contained herein.

Mark Olleman, FSA, EA, MAAA Consulting Actuary Craig Glyde, ASA, EA, MAAA Consulting Actuary

Nick Collier, ASA, EA, MAAA Consulting Actuary

Nice Collin

#### Overview of GASB 67 and GASB 68

In 2012, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) released new reporting standards for public pension plans and participating employers. These standards, GASB Statements 67 and 68, substantially changed the reporting requirements previously mandated under GASB Statements 25 and 27. The most notable change is the distinct separation of funding from financial reporting.

GASB 67 applies to financial reporting for the Texas County & District Retirement System (TCDRS) and does not impact participating employers.

GASB 68, which governs the specifics of reporting public pension plan obligations for employers, is required to be implemented for TCDRS employer fiscal years ending June 15, 2015 or later.

Three key ways that GASB 68 affects employer financial statements are:

- 1) GASB 68 requires a liability for pension obligations, known as the Net Pension Liability, to be recognized on the balance sheets of participating employers.
- Changes in the Net Pension Liability from year-to-year will be recognized as Pension Expense on the income statement or reported as deferred inflows/outflows of resources, depending on the type of change.
- 3) Deferred inflows/outflows of resources will need to be reported. These are amounts that are not entirely recognized when they occur. They are recognized over a period of time.

Please refer to the Glossary shown in Appendix F of this report for more information on the relevant accounting terminology.

Note that the previously defined GASB Annual Required Contribution (ARC) has been eliminated under Statements 67 and 68 and is no longer relevant for financial reporting purposes. As a result, plan sponsors have been encouraged to establish a formal funding policy that is separate from financial reporting calculations. A copy of the TCDRS funding policy is shown in Appendix E of this report.

# **Net Pension Liability / (Asset)**

Net Pension Liability / (Asset)	<b>December 31, 2014</b>	<b>December 31, 2015</b>	
Total pension liability	\$3,013,027	\$3,335,190	
Fiduciary net position	3,126,740	3,145,432	
Net pension liability / (asset)	(113,713)	189,758	
Fiduciary net position as a % of total pension liability	103.77%	94.31%	
Pensionable covered payroll <sup>(1)</sup>	\$856,552	\$881,350	
Net pension liability as a % of covered payroll	(13.28%)	21.53%	

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of the valuation date, calculated based on the discount rate and actuarial assumptions below.

Note: Rounding differences may exist above or in other tables in this report.

#### **Discount Rate**

Discount rate <sup>(2)</sup>	8.10%	8.10%
Long-term expected rate of return, net of investment expense <sup>(2)</sup>	8.10%	8.10%
Municipal bond rate <sup>(3)</sup>	Does not apply	Does not apply

<sup>(2)</sup> This rate reflects the long-term rate of return funding valuation assumption of 8.00%, plus 0.10% adjustment to be gross of administrative expenses as required by GASB 68.

#### **Other Key Actuarial Assumptions**

Updated mortality assumptions were adopted in 2015. All other actuarial assumptions that determined the total pension liability as of December 31, 2015 were based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2009 - December 31, 2012, except where required to be different by GASB 68.

See Appendix B of this report (Actuarial Methods and Assumptions Used for GASB Calculations) for a listing of key assumptions used in the calculation of the total pension liability and other GASB 68 metrics.

See Appendix C (Actuarial Methods and Assumptions Used for Funding Valuation) of this report for a full description of the actuarial assumptions used in the funding valuation.

	Beginning Date	Ending Date
Valuation date	Dec. 31, 2014	Dec. 31, 2015
Measurement date	Dec. 31, 2014	Dec. 31, 2015
Employer's fiscal year	January 1, 2016	December 31, 2016

GASB 68 Disclosure for Measurement Date December 31, 2015 Wise County Appraisal District Texas County & District Retirement System

<sup>(1)</sup> Payroll is calculated based on contributions as reported to TCDRS.

<sup>(3)</sup> The plan's fiduciary net position is projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active, inactive, and retired members. Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of return, and the municipal bond rate does not apply. See page 6 of this report for further details.

# **Long-Term Expected Rate of Return**

The long-term expected rate of return on TCDRS assets is determined by adding expected inflation to expected long-term real returns, and reflecting expected volatility and correlation. The capital market assumptions and information shown below are provided by TCDRS' investment consultant, Cliffwater LLC. The numbers shown are based on January 2016 information for a 7-10 year time horizon.

Note that the valuation assumption for long-term expected return is re-assessed at a minimum of every four years, and is set based on a 30-year time horizon; the most recent analysis was performed in 2013. See Milliman's TCDRS Investigation of Experience report for the period January 1, 2009 – December 31, 2012 for more details.

			Geometric Real Rate of Return
Asset Class	Benchmark	Target Allocation <sup>(1)</sup>	(Expected Minus Inflation) <sup>(2)</sup>
US Equities	Dow Jones U.S. Total Stock Market Index	14.50%	5.45%
Private Equity	Cambridge Associates Global Private Equity & Venture Capital Index <sup>(3)</sup>	14.00%	8.45%
Global Equities	MSCI World (net) Index	1.50%	5.75%
International Equities - Developed	MSCI World Ex USA (net)	10.00%	5.45%
International Equities - Emerging	MSCI World Ex USA (net)	8.00%	6.45%
Investment-Grade Bonds	Barclays Capital Aggregate Bond Index	3.00%	1.00%
High-Yield Bonds	Citigroup High-Yield Cash-Pay Capped Index	3.00%	5.10%
Opportunistic Credit	Citigroup High-Yield Cash-Pay Capped Index	2.00%	5.09%
Direct Lending	Citigroup High-Yield Cash-Pay Capped Index	5.00%	6.40%
Distressed Debt	Citigroup High-Yield Cash-Pay Capped Index	3.00%	8.10%
REIT Equities	67% FTSE NAREIT Equity REITs Index + 33% FRSE EPRA/NAREIT Global Real Estate Index	3.00%	4.00%
Master Limited Partnerships (MLPs)	Alerian MLP Index	3.00%	6.80%
Private Real Estate Partnerships	Cambridge Associates Real Estate Index <sup>(4)</sup>	5.00%	6.90%
Hedge Funds	Hedge Fund Research, Inc. (HFRI) Fund of Funds Composite Index	25.00%	5.25%

<sup>(1)</sup> Target asset allocation adopted at the April 2016 TCDRS Board meeting.

<sup>(2)</sup> Geometric real rates of return in addition to assumed inflation of 1.6%, per Cliffwater's 2016 capital market assumptions.

<sup>(3)</sup> Includes vintage years 2006-present of Quarter Pooled Horizon IRRs.

<sup>(4)</sup> Includes vintage years 2007-present of Quarter Pooled Horizon IRRs.

### **Depletion of Plan Assets / GASB Discount Rate**

The discount rate is the single rate of return that, when applied to all projected benefit payments results in an actuarial present value of projected benefit payments equal to the total of the following:

- 1. The actuarial present value of benefit payments projected to be made in future periods in which (a) the amount of the pension plan's fiduciary net position is projected to be greater than the benefit payments that are projected to be made in that period and (b) pension plan assets up to that point are expected to be invested using a strategy to achieve the long-term rate of return, calculated using the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments.
- 2. The actuarial present value of projected benefit payments not included in (1), calculated using the municipal bond rate.

Therefore, if plan investments in a given future year are greater than projected benefit payments in that year and are invested such that they are expected to earn the long-term rate of return, the discount rate applied to projected benefit payments in that year should be the long-term expected rate of return on plan investments. If future years exist where this is not the case, then an index rate reflecting the yield on a 20-year, tax-exempt municipal bond should be used to discount the projected benefit payments for those years.

The determination of a future date when plan investments are not sufficient to pay projected benefit payments is often referred to as a depletion date projection. A depletion date projection compares projections of the pension plan's fiduciary net position to projected benefit payments and aims to determine a future date, if one exists, when the fiduciary net position is projected to be less than projected benefit payments. If an evaluation of the sufficiency of the projected fiduciary net position compared to projected benefit payments can be made with sufficient reliability without performing a depletion date projection, alternative methods to determine sufficiency may be applied.

In order to determine the discount rate to be used by the employer we have used an alternative method to determine the sufficiency of the fiduciary net position in all future years. Our alternative method reflects the funding requirements under the employer's funding policy and the legal requirements under the TCDRS Act.

- 1. TCDRS has a funding policy where the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) shall be amortized as a level percent of pay over 20-year closed layered periods.
- 2. Under the TCDRS Act, the employer is legally required to make the contribution specified in the funding policy.
- 3. The employer's assets are projected to exceed its accrued liabilities in 20 years or less. When this point is reached, the employer is still required to contribute at least the normal cost.
- 4. Any increased cost due to the adoption of a COLA is required to be funded over a period of 15 years, if applicable.

Based on the above, the projected fiduciary net position is determined to be sufficient compared to projected benefit payments. Based on the expected level of cash flows and investment returns to the system, the fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability is projected to increase from its current level in future years.

Since the projected fiduciary net position is projected to be sufficient to pay projected benefit payments in all future years, the discount rate for purposes of calculating the total pension liability and net pension liability of the employer is equal to the long-term assumed rate of return on investments. This long-term assumed rate of

return should be net of investment expenses, but gross of administrative expenses for GASB 68 purposes. Therefore, we have used a discount rate of 8.10%. This rate reflects the long-term assumed rate of return on assets for funding purposes of 8.00%, net of all expenses, increased by 0.10% to be gross of administrative expenses.

As additional documentation for auditing purposes, we have shown the projection of the Fiduciary Net Position in the following exhibit ("Projection of Fiduciary Net Position").

# **Projection of Fiduciary Net Position\***

Calendar Year Ending**	Projected Beginning Fiduciary Net Position (a)	Projected Total Contributions (b)	Projected Benefit Payments (c)	Projected Administrative Expenses*** (d)	Projected Investment Earnings (e)	Projected Ending Fiduciary Net Position (a)+(b)-(c)-(d)+(e)
2016	\$3,145,432	\$127,541	\$144,083	\$3,145	\$253,998	\$3,379,742
2017	3,379,742	133,694	93,583	3,380	275,218	3,691,691
2018	3,691,691	135,455	113,640	3,692	299,747	4,009,561
2019	4,009,561	138,013	136,637	4,010	324,670	4,331,598
2020	4,331,598	141,161	159,759	4,332	349,949	4,658,617
2021	4,658,617	141,916	192,151	4,659	375,168	4,978,891
2022	4,978,891	138,122	221,912	4,979	399,765	5,289,887
2023	5,289,887	135,108	250,929	5,290	423,671	5,592,448
2024	5,592,448	131,972	280,212	5,592	446,879	5,885,495
2025 :	5,885,495	128,885	309,794	5,885	469,307	6,168,007
2035 :	7,868,704	103,588	599,528	7,869	617,358	7,982,252
2045 :	7,522,538	11,266	779,373	7,523	578,524	7,325,433
2055 :	5,361,786	1,020	601,836	5,362	410,232	5,165,840
2065	4,231,081	0	308,483	4,231	330,299	4,248,665
2075	5,864,299	0	98,705	5,864	470,856	6,230,585
2085	11,791,702	0	14,224	11,792	954,095	12,719,781
2095	25,353,821	0	570	25,354	2,052,630	27,380,527

<sup>\*</sup> Projection values include no assumption for future cost-of-living adjustments.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Note that only select years have been shown for formatting purposes

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> Administrative expenses are assumed to be 0.10% of Fiduciary Net Position.

# **Changes in Net Pension Liability / (Asset)**

Changes in Net Pension Liability / (Asset)	Total Pension Liability (a)	Fiduciary Net Position (b)	Net Pension Liability / (Asset) (a) – (b)
Balances as of December 31, 2014	\$3,013,027	\$3,126,740	\$(113,713)
Changes for the year:			
Service cost	124,181		124,181
Interest on total pension liability <sup>(1)</sup>	247,478		247,478
Effect of plan changes <sup>(2)</sup>	(23,345)		(23,345)
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losse	s (11,519)		(11,519)
Effect of assumptions changes or inputs	42,058		42,058
Refund of contributions	(2,604)	(2,604)	0
Benefit payments	(54,087)	(54,087)	0
Administrative expenses		(2,259)	2,259
Member contributions		61,694	(61,694)
Net investment income		(54,612)	54,612
Employer contributions		64,163	(64,163)
Other <sup>(3)</sup>	0	6,396	(6,396)
Balances as of December 31, 2015	\$3,335,190	\$3,145,432	\$189,758

<sup>(1)</sup> Reflects the change in the liability due to the time value of money. TCDRS does not charge fees or interest.

### **Sensitivity Analysis**

The following presents the net pension liability of the county/district, calculated using the discount rate of 8.10%, as well as what the Wise County Appraisal District net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (7.10%) or 1 percentage point higher (9.10%) than the current rate.

	1% Current Decrease Discount Rate		1% Increase
	7.10%	8.10%	9.10%
Total pension liability	\$3,814,790	\$3,335,190	\$2,935,448
Fiduciary net position	3,145,432	3,145,432	3,145,432
Net pension liability / (asset)	\$669,358	\$189,758	(\$209,985)

<sup>(2)</sup> Reflects new annuity purchase rates applicable to all TCDRS employers effective January 1, 2018.

<sup>(3)</sup> Relates to allocation of system-wide items.

# Pension Expense / (Income)

Pension Expense / (Income)	January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015
Service cost	\$124,181
Interest on total pension liability <sup>(1)</sup>	247,478
Effect of plan changes	(23,345)
Administrative expenses	2,259
Member contributions	(61,694)
Expected investment return net of investment expenses	(258,436)
Recognition of deferred inflows/outflows of resources	
Recognition of economic/demographic gains or losses	(2,802)
Recognition of assumption changes or inputs	10,515
Recognition of investment gains or losses	71,533
Other <sup>(2)</sup>	(6,396)
Pension expense / (income)	\$103,293

<sup>(1)</sup> Reflects the change in the liability due to the time value of money. TCDRS does not charge fees or interest.

As of December 31, 2015, the deferred inflows and outflows of resources are as follows:

Deferred Inflows / Outflows of Resources	Deferred Inflows of Resources	Deferred Outflows of Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience	\$8,639	\$234
Changes of assumptions	0	31,544
Net difference between projected and actual earnings	0	277,208
Contributions made subsequent to measurement date <sup>(3)</sup>	N/A	Employer determined

Amounts currently reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, excluding contributions made subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Toal chaca December 51.	
2016	\$79,246
2017	79,246
2018	79,246
2019	62,609
2020	0
Thereafter <sup>(4)</sup>	0

Vear ended December 31.

<sup>(2)</sup> Relates to allocation of system-wide items.

<sup>(3)</sup> Any eligible employer contributions made subsequent to the measurement date through the employer's fiscal year end should be reflected as outlined in Appendix D of this report.

<sup>(4)</sup> Total remaining balance to be recognized in future years, if any. Note that additional future deferred inflows and outflows of resources may impact these numbers.

#### Schedule of Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources

Original Amount	Date Established	Original Recognition Period <sup>(1)</sup>	Amount Recognized in 12/31/2015 Expense <sup>(1)</sup>	Balance of Deferred Inflows 12/31/2015	Balance of Deferred Outflows 12/31/2015
Investment (gains) or losses					
\$313,047	12/31/2015	5.0	\$62,609	\$0	\$250,438
44,617	12/31/2014	5.0	8,923	0	26,770
Economic/ demographic (gains					
(11,519)	12/31/2015	4.0	(2,880)	8,639	0
390	12/31/2014	5.0	78	0	234
Assumption changes or inputs	40/04/0045	4.0	40.545	0	04.544
42,058	12/31/2015	4.0	10,515	0	31,544
0	12/31/2014	5.0	0	0	0
Employer contributions made s	ubsequent to r	neasurement da	te <sup>(2)</sup>		
		Emplo	yer Determined—		

<sup>(1)</sup> Investment (gains)/losses are recognized in pension expense over a period of five years; economic/demographic (gains)/losses and assumption changes or inputs are recognized over the average remaining service life for all active, inactive, and retired members.

<sup>(2)</sup> Any eligible employer contributions made subsequent to the measurement date through the employer's fiscal year end should be reflected as outlined in Appendix D of this report.

# **Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios**

	Year Ended December 31									
	2015	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007	2006
Total Pension Liability										
Service cost	\$124,181	\$119,854	N/A							
Interest on total pension liability	247,478	223,221	N/A							
Effect of plan changes	(23,345)	0	N/A							
Effect of assumption changes or inputs	42,058	0	N/A							
Effect of economic/demographic (gains) or losses	(11,519)	390	N/A							
Benefit payments/refunds of contributions	(56,691)	(53,945)	N/A							
Net change in total pension liability	322,163	289,520	N/A							
Total pension liability, beginning	3,013,027	2,723,507	<u>N/A</u>	N/A						
Total pension liability, ending (a)	\$3,335,190	\$3,013,027	N/A							
Fiduciary Net Position										
Employer contributions	\$64,163	\$62,528	N/A							
Member contributions	61,694	59,959	N/A							
Investment income net of investment expenses	(54,612)	192,468	N/A							
Benefit payments/refunds of contributions	(56,691)	(53,945)	N/A							
Administrative expenses	(2,259)	(2,309)	N/A							
Other	<u>6,396</u>	<u>4,016</u>	N/A							
Net change in fiduciary net position	18,692	262,717	N/A							
Fiduciary net position, beginning	3,126,740	2,864,023	N/A							
Fiduciary net position, ending (b)	<u>\$3,145,432</u>	\$3,126,740	N/A							
Net pension liability / (asset), ending = (a) - (b)	<u>\$189,758</u>	<u>(\$113,713)</u>	<u>N/A</u>							
Fiduciary net position as a % of total pension liability	94.31%	103.77%	N/A							
Pensionable covered payroll	\$881,350	\$856,552	N/A							
Net pension liability as a % of covered payroll	21.53%	-13.28%	N/A							

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, recalculations of prior years are not required, and if prior years are not reported in accordance with the standards of GASB 67/68, they should not be shown here. Therefore, we have shown only years for which the new GASB statements have been implemented.

GASB 68 Disclosure for Measurement Date December 31, 2015 Wise County Appraisal District Texas County & District Retirement System

# **Schedule of Employer Contributions**

Year Ending December 31	Actuarially Determined Contribution <sup>(1)</sup>	Actual Employer Contribution <sup>(1)</sup>	Contribution Deficiency (Excess)	Pensionable Covered Payroll <sup>(2)</sup>	Actual Contribution as a % of Covered Payroll
2006	\$20,216	\$20,216	\$0	\$505,401	4.0%
2007	26,756	26,756	0	541,617	4.9%
2008	23,894	23,894	0	585,645	4.1%
2009	29,742	29,742	0	660,927	4.5%
2010	41,924	41,924	0	648,983	6.5%
2011	47,046	47,046	0	700,088	6.7%
2012	50,761	50,761	0	756,503	6.7%
2013	53,387	53,387	0	808,888	6.6%
2014	62,528	62,528	0	856,552	7.3%
2015	64,163	64,163	0	881,350	7.3%

<sup>(1)</sup> TCDRS calculates actuarially determined contributions on a calendar year basis. GASB Statement No. 68 indicates the employer should report employer contribution amounts on a fiscal year basis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>(2)</sup> Payroll is calculated based on contributions as reported to TCDRS.

#### **Notes to Schedule**

Valuation Date: Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated each December 31, two

years prior to the end of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age

Amortization Method Level percentage of payroll, closed

Remaining Amortization Period 19.9 years (based on contribution rate calculated in 12/31/2015 valuation)

Asset Valuation Method 5-year smoothed market

Inflation 3.0%

Salary Increases Varies by age and service. 4.9% average over career including inflation.

Investment rate of Return 8.00%, net of investment expenses, including inflation

Retirement Age Members who are eligible for service retirement are assumed to

commence receiving benefit payments based on age. The average age at

service retirement for recent retirees is 61.

Mortality In the 2015 actuarial valuation, assumed life expectancies were adjusted

as a result of adopting a new projection scale (110% of the MP-2014 Ultimate Scale) for 2014 and later. Previously Scale AA had been used. The base table is the RP-2000 table projected with Scale AA to 2014.

Changes in Plan Provisions Reflected in the Schedule\* No changes in plan provisions are reflected in the Schedule of Employer

Contributions.

<sup>\*</sup>Only changes effective 2015 and later are shown in the Notes to Schedule.

# Appendix A— GASB 68 Plan Description for Wise County Appraisal District

A description of the pension plan pursuant to Paragraph 40 of GASB Statement No. 68 is as follows:

- a. Wise County Appraisal District participates in the Texas County & District Retirement System (TCDRS), which is a statewide, agent multiple-employer, public employee retirement system.
- b. A brief description of benefit terms:
  - 1) All full- and part-time non-temporary employees participate in the plan, regardless of the number of hours they work in a year. Employees in a temporary position are not eligible for membership.
  - 2) The plan provides retirement, disability and survivor benefits.
  - 3) TCDRS is a savings-based plan. For the district's plan, 7% of each employee's pay is deposited into his or her TCDRS account. By law, employee accounts earn 7% interest on beginning of year balances annually. At retirement, the account is matched at an employer set percentage (current match is 200%) and is then converted to an annuity.
  - 4) There are no automatic COLAs. Each year, the district may elect an ad hoc COLA for its retirees (if any). There are two COLA types, each limited by actual inflation.
  - 5) Benefit terms are established under the TCDRS Act. They may be amended as of Jan. 1 each year, but must remain in conformity with the Act.
- c. Membership information is shown in the chart below.
- d. The district's contribution rate is calculated annually on an actuarial basis, although the employer may elect to contribute at a higher rate. The Wise County Appraisal District contribution rate is based on the TCDRS funding policy adopted by the TCDRS Board of Trustees and must conform with the TCDRS Act. The employee contribution rates are set by the district and are currently 7%. Contributions to the pension plan from the district for 2015 are shown in the chart on the prior page.
- e. The most recent comprehensive annual financial report for TCDRS can be found at the following link, www.tcdrs.org.

#### **Membership Information**

Members	Dec. 31, 2014	Dec. 31, 2015
Number of inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits:	15	15
Number of active employees:	17	17
Average monthly salary*:	\$4,202	\$4,360
Average age*:	47.19	48.72
Average length of service in years*:	10.52	11.12

#### Inactive Employees (or their Beneficiaries) Receiving Benefits

Number of benefit recipients:	8	8
Average monthly benefit:	\$563	\$563

<sup>\*</sup>Averages reported for all active and inactive employees. Average service includes all proportionate service.

# Appendix B—Actuarial Methods and Assumptions Used for GASB Calculations

All actuarial methods and assumptions used for this GASB analysis were the same as those used in the December 31, 2015 funding valuation (see Appendix C, following, for details), except as noted below and throughout this report. Please see the Wise County Appraisal District December 31, 2015 Summary Valuation Report for further details.

Following are the key assumptions and methods used in this GASB analysis.

Valuation Timing Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated on a

calendar year basis as of December 31, two years prior to the end of the fiscal year in which the contributions are reported.

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal<sup>(1)</sup>

**Amortization Method** 

Recognition of economic/demographic

gains or losses Straight-Line amortization over Expected Working Life

Recognition of assumptions changes

or inputs Straight-Line amortization over Expected Working Life

**Asset Valuation Method** 

Smoothing period 5 years

Recognition method Non-asymptotic

Corridor None

Inflation Same as funding valuation: See Appendix C

Salary Increases Same as funding valuation: See Appendix C

Investment Rate of Return 8.10%

Cost-of-Living Adjustments Cost-of-Living Adjustments for Wise County Appraisal District

are not considered to be substantively automatic under GASB

68. Therefore, no assumption for future cost-of-living

adjustments is included in the GASB calculations. No assumption for future cost-of-living adjustments is included in the funding

valuation.

Retirement Age Same as funding valuation: See Appendix C

Turnover Same as funding valuation: See Appendix C

Mortality Same as funding valuation: See Appendix C

<sup>(1)</sup> Individual entry age normal cost method, as required by GASB 68, used for GASB calculations. Note that a slightly different version of the entry age normal cost method is used for the funding actuarial valuation.

# Appendix C—Actuarial Methods and Assumptions Used for Funding Valuation

Except where indicated in the section of this GASB 68 report entitled "Actuarial Methods and Assumptions Used for GASB Calculations", the assumptions used in this analysis for the December 31, 2015 financial reporting metrics are the same as those used in the December 31, 2015 actuarial valuation analysis for Wise County Appraisal District.

Following is a description of the assumptions used in the December 31, 2015 actuarial valuation analysis for Wise County Appraisal District. This information may also be found in the Wise County Appraisal District December 31, 2015 Summary Valuation Report.

#### **Economic Assumptions**

#### TCDRS system-wide economic assumptions:

Real rate of return	5.0%
Inflation	3.0%
Long-term investment return	8.0%

The assumed long-term investment return of 8% is net after investment and administrative expenses. It is assumed returns will equal the nominal annual rate of 8% for calculating the actuarial accrued liability and the normal cost contribution rate for the retirement plan of each participating employer.

The annual salary increase rates assumed for individual members vary by length of service and by entry-age group. The annual rates consist of a general wage inflation component of 3.5% (made up of 3.0% inflation and 0.5% productivity increase assumptions) and a merit, promotion and longevity component that on average approximates 1.4% per year for a career employee. (See Table 1 for Merit Salary Increases.)

#### **Employer-specific economic assumptions:**

Growth in membership 0.0%
Payroll growth for funding calculations 3.5%

The payroll growth assumption is for the aggregate covered payroll of an employer.

Table 1
Merit Salary Increases\*

		Entry Age		
Years of Service	Before 30	Ages 30-39	Ages 40-49	50 and later
0	5.25%	4.75%	4.25%	3.75%
1	4.50	4.00	3.50	3.00
2	4.00	3.50	3.00	2.50
3	3.50	3.00	2.50	2.00
4	3.00	2.50	2.00	1.50
5	2.65	2.15	1.65	1.15
6	2.40	1.90	1.40	0.90
7	2.20	1.70	1.20	0.70
8	2.05	1.55	1.05	0.55
9	1.95	1.45	0.95	0.45
10	1.85	1.35	0.85	0.40
11	1.75	1.25	0.75	0.40
12	1.65	1.15	0.65	0.40
13	1.55	1.05	0.55	0.40
14	1.56	0.95	0.45	0.40
15	1.35	0.90	0.40	0.40
16	1.25	0.85	0.40	0.40
17	1.15	0.80	0.40	0.40
18	1.10	0.75	0.40	0.40
19	1.05	0.70	0.40	0.40
20	1.00	0.65	0.40	0.40
21	0.95	0.60	0.40	0.40
22	0.90	0.55	0.40	0.40
23	0.85	0.50	0.40	0.40
24	0.80	0.45	0.40	0.40
25	0.75	0.40	0.40	0.40
26	0.70	0.40	0.40	0.40
27	0.65	0.40	0.40	0.40
28	0.60	0.40	0.40	0.40
29	0.55	0.40	0.40	0.40
30 & Up	0.50	0.40	0.40	0.40

<sup>\*</sup> These rates do not include the wage inflation rate of 3.5% per year. For example, a member who entered the system at age 20 and is in the first year of service is assumed to receive an 8.93% total annual increase in his salary. The 8.93% is a combination of the 5.25% merit increase and the 3.5% wage inflation. Note that the two components are compounded, so it is a slightly different result than just adding the two percentages.

#### **Demographic Assumptions**

### TCDRS system-wide demographic assumptions:

**Replacement of Terminated Members** — New employees are assumed to replace any terminated members and have similar entry ages.

**Disability** — The rates of disability used in this valuation are illustrated in Table 2. Members who become disabled are eligible to commence benefit payments regardless of age. Rates of disability are in a custom table based on TCDRS experience.

Table 2
Annual Rates of Disability\*

	Work Related	All Other Causes
Age	Male and Female	Male and Female
less than 25	0.000%	0.000%
25	0.000	0.000
26	0.000	0.000
27	0.000	0.000
28	0.000	0.010
29	0.000	0.010
30	0.000	0.011
31	0.000	0.012
32	0.000	0.012
33	0.000	0.014
34	0.000	0.018
35	0.001	0.023
36	0.001	0.028
37	0.001	0.035
38	0.002	0.041
39	0.002	0.047
40	0.003	0.053
41	0.004	0.059
42	0.004	0.066

	Work Related	All Other Causes
Age	Male and Female	Male and Female
43	0.005%	0.072%
44	0.005	0.079
45	0.006	0.086
46	0.006	0.095
47	0.007	0.105
48	0.007	0.119
49	0.008	0.136
50	0.009	0.156
51	0.009	0.178
52	0.010	0.203
53	0.011	0.229
54	0.012	0.254
55	0.014	0.278
56	0.016	0.297
57	0.018	0.312
58	0.022	0.325
59	0.024	0.337
60 & Above	0.000	0.000

<sup>\*</sup> The probability of disablement from all other causes is applicable for members who are vested but not eligible for service retirement. Before a member is vested, only the work related disability provisions are applicable.

### Mortality

Depositing members	The RP-2000 Active Employee Mortality Table for males with a two-year set-forward and the RP-2000 Active Employee Mortality Table for females with a four-year setback, both projected to 2014 with scale AA and then projected with 110% of the MP-2014 Ultimate scale after that.
Service retirees, beneficiaries and non-depositing members	The RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected to 2014 with scale AA and then projected with 110% of the MP-2014 Ultimate scale after that, with a one-year set-forward for males and no age adjustment for females.
Disabled retirees	RP-2000 Disabled Mortality Table projected to 2014 with scale AA and then projected with 110% of the MP-2014 Ultimate scale after that, with no age adjustment for males and a two-year set-forward for females.

Family Composition — For current retirees, beneficiary information is supplied by TCDRS. For purposes of calculating the Survivor Benefit for current depositing and non-depositing members, male members are assumed to have a female beneficiary who is three years younger. Female members are assumed to have a male beneficiary who is three years older.

Service Retirement — Members eligible for service retirement are assumed to retire at the rates shown in Table 3.

Table 3 Annual Rates of Service Retirement\*

Age	Male	Female
40-44	4.5%	4.5%
45-40	9.0	9.0
50	10.0	10.0
51	10.0	10.0
52	10.5	10.5
53	10.5	10.5
54	10.5	10.5
55	11.0	11.0
56	11.0	11.0
57	11.0	11.0
58	12.0	12.0
59	12.0	12.0
60	14.0	14.0
61	12.0	12.0

Age	Male	Female
62	25.0%	25.0%
63	16.0	16.0
64	16.0	16.0
65	30.0	30.0
66	25.0	25.0
67	24.0	24.0
68	22.0	22.0
69	22.0	22.0
70	22.0	22.0
71	22.0	22.0
72	22.0	22.0
73	22.0	22.0
74**	22.0	22.0

<sup>\*</sup> Deferred members are assumed to retire (100% probability) at the later of: a) age 60

#### Employer-specific demographic assumptions:

Other Terminations of Employment — The rate of assumed future termination from active participation in the plan for reasons other than death, disability or retirement are illustrated in Table 4. The rates vary by length of service, entry-age group (age at hire) and gender. No termination after eligibility for retirement is assumed.

b) earliest retirement eligibility.

<sup>\*\*</sup> For all eligible members ages 75 and later, retirement is assumed to occur immediately.

Table 4
Annual Rates of Termination

Years of	Entry	/ Age 20	Entry	Age 30	Entry	Age 40	Entry	Age 50
Service	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female
0	26.5%	28.7%	21.9%	23.7%	19.6%	21.2%	17.3%	18.7%
1	17.7	19.1	14.6	15.8	13.1	14.1	11.5	12.5
2	13.3	14.4	10.9	11.9	9.8	10.6	8.6	9.4
3	10.6	11.5	8.8	9.5	7.8	8.5	6.9	7.5
4	8.8	9.6	7.3	7.9	6.5	7.1	5.8	6.2
5	7.5	8.1	6.2	6.7	5.6	6.0	4.9	5.3
6	6.2	6.7	5.1	5.5	4.6	5.0	4.0	4.4
7	5.3	5.7	4.4	4.7	3.9	4.2	3.5	3.7
8	4.9	5.3	4.0	4.3	3.6	3.9	3.2	3.4
9	4.4	4.8	3.7	4.0	3.3	3.5	2.9	3.1
10	4.0	4.3	3.3	3.6	2.9	3.2	2.6	2.8
11	3.5	3.8	2.9	3.2	2.6	2.8	2.3	2.5
12	3.2	3.5	2.6	2.9	2.4	2.5	2.1	2.3
13	2.8	3.1	2.3	2.5	2.1	2.3	1.8	2.0
14	2.5	2.7	2.0	2.2	1.8	2.0	1.6	1.7
15	2.1	2.3	1.8	1.9	1.6	1.7	1.4	1.5
16	1.9	2.0	1.5	1.7	1.4	1.5	1.2	1.3
17	1.6	1.7	1.3	1.4	1.2	1.3	1.0	1.1
18	1.4	1.5	1.2	1.3	1.1	1.1	0.9	1.0
19	1.3	1.4	1.1	1.2	1.0	1.1	0.9	0.9
20	1.3	1.4	1.1	1.2	1.0	1.1	0.9	0.9
21	1.2	1.3	1.0	1.1	0.9	1.0	0.8	0.8
22	1.1	1.2	0.9	1.0	0.8	0.9	0.7	0.8
23	0.9	1.0	0.8	0.8	0.7	0.7	0.6	0.7
24	0.8	0.9	0.7	0.7	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.6
25	0.7	0.8	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.5
26	0.6	0.7	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.4
27	0.5	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.4
28	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.3
29	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.3
30 & Later	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

**Withdrawals** — Members who terminate may either elect to leave their account with TCDRS or withdraw their funds. The probability that a member elects a withdrawal varies by length of service and vesting schedule. Rates applied to your plan are shown in Table 5. For non-depositing members who are not vested, 100% are assumed to elect a withdrawal.

Table 5
Probability of Withdrawal

Years of Service	Probability
0	100%
1	100
2	100
3	100
4	100
5	100
6	100
7	100
8	100
9	100
10	48
11	47
12	46
13	44
14	42

Years of Service	Probability
15	40
16	38
17	36
18	34
19	32
20	30
21	28
22	26
23	24
24	22
25	20
26	15
27	10
28*	5

<sup>\*</sup> Members with more than 28 years of service are not assumed to refund.

# Appendix D—Contributions Made Subsequent to Measurement Date

GASB Statement No. 71 ("GASB 71"), *Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date – an Amendment of GASB Statement No. 68*, requires employer contributions made between the measurement date, which is the date used to determine an employer's net pension liability ("NPL"), and the employer's fiscal year end be reported as a deferred outflow of resources ("DOoR"). The statement "requires a beginning deferred outflow of resources for its pension contributions, if any, made subsequent to the measurement date of the beginning net pension liability."

For GASB valuation purposes, TCDRS' consulting actuary will compute each participating employer's NPL as of Dec. 31 of each year. Employers that have a fiscal year end other than Dec. 31 will need to account for pension contributions (employer; not employee contributions and group term life premiums) made between Dec. 31 and the employer's fiscal year end as a DOoR. These contributions will not be reported to you as part of this GASB report; employers can access their monthly employer activity statements, which display contributions made by the employer, along with any group term life premium offsets, via the TCDRS Employer Portal.

An example may help. An employer, with a March 31 fiscal year end, will implement GASB 68 requirements for its fiscal year end March 31, 2016. To transition to the new GASB requirements, the employer will record:

- a beginning NPL determined as of the Dec. 31, 2014 measurement date, and
- a beginning DOoR for pension contributions made after Dec. 31, 2014 through the beginning of the employer's fiscal year, which equates to March 31, 2015.

The employer's Dec. 31, 2014 NPL is computed to be \$1,000,000. The employer's pension contributions made after Dec. 31, 2014 to March 31, 2015 total \$200,000. The initial implementation entry would be:

Debit Credit
Net position \$800,000

DOOR – Contributions after the measurement date \$200,000

Initial NPL \$1,000,000

# Appendix E—Summary of TCDRS Funding Policy

# **Texas County & District Retirement System Funding Policy**

Effective as of the Dec. 31, 2014 valuation

#### Introduction

The funding policy governs how the Texas County & District Retirement System (TCDRS) determines the employer contributions required to ensure that benefits provided to TCDRS members are funded in a reasonable and equitable manner. The goals of TCDRS' funding policy are to fully fund benefits over the course of employees' careers to ensure intergenerational equity, and to balance rate and benefit stability with the need for the plan funding to be reflective of current plan conditions.

This policy documents the current funding policies in effect for the Dec. 31, 2015 actuarial valuation as established by state law, administrative rule and action by the TCDRS Board of Trustees (the board). The policy serves as a comprehensive funding overview and complies with the GASB reporting requirements for an agent multiple-employer plan.

#### **TCDRS** funding overview

TCDRS is a model for responsible, disciplined funding. TCDRS does not receive any state funding. As an agent, multiple-employer plan, each participating employer in the system funds its plan independently. A combination of three elements funds each employer's plan: employee deposits, employer contributions and investment income.

- The deposit rate for employees is 4%, 5%, 6% or 7% of compensation, as adopted by the employer's governing body.
- Participating employers are required to contribute at actuarially determined rates to ensure adequate funding for each employer's plan. Employer contribution rates are determined annually and approved by the TCDRS Board of Trustees.
- Investment income funds a large part of the benefits employees earn.

Pursuant to state law, employers participating in the system must pay 100% of their actuarially determined required contributions on an annual basis.

Each employer has the opportunity to make additional contributions in excess of its annual required contribution rate either by adopting an elected rate that is higher than the required rate or by making additional contributions on an ad hoc basis. Employers may make additional contributions to pay down their liabilities faster, pre-fund benefit enhancements and/or buffer against future adverse experience.

In addition, employers annually review their plans and may adjust benefits and costs based on their local needs and budgets. Although accrued benefits may not be reduced, employers may reduce future benefit accruals and immediately reduce costs.

#### Methodology for determining employer contribution rates

The board hires independent outside consulting actuaries to conduct an annual valuation to measure the funding status and to determine the required employer contribution rate for each employer plan. In order to calculate the employer contribution rate, the actuary does the following:

- Studies each employer's adopted plan of benefits and the profile of its plan participants, and uses assumptions established by the board to estimate future benefit payments.
- Discounts the estimate of future benefit payments to the present based on the long-term rate of investment return to determine the present value of future benefits.
- Compares the present value of future benefits with the plan's assets to determine the difference that needs to be funded based on the funding policy.

The valuation of each employer plan is based on the system funding policy and the assets, benefits and participant profile of each participating employer plan. The four key components in the determination of employer contribution rates are: the actuarial cost method, amortization policy, the asset valuation method and the actuarial assumptions.

#### Actuarial cost method

TCDRS has adopted the replacement life entry age cost method, a conservative cost method and an industry standard. The goal of this cost method is to fund benefits in an orderly manner for each participant over his or her career so that sufficient funds are accumulated by the time benefit payments begin. Under this approach, benefits are funded in advance as a level percentage of pay. This portion of the contribution rate is called the normal cost rate and generally remains stable from year to year.

#### Amortization policy

The portion of the contribution rate that funds any remaining unfunded amounts for benefits that are not covered by the normal cost is called the unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) rate. UAAL amounts occur when benefit enhancements are adopted that have not been funded in advance, or when actual investment or demographic experience varies from the actuarial assumptions (actuarial gains and losses). UAAL amounts are amortized on a level-percentage-of-covered-payroll basis over a closed period with a layered approach. The closed periods ensure all unfunded liabilities are financed over no more than 20 years from the time they occur. Each year new layers are established to amortize changes in the UAAL due to actuarial gains or losses, as well as any plan benefit changes elected by an employer for that year.

Benefit enhancements are amortized over a 15-year closed period. All other changes in the UAAL are amortized over 20-year closed periods. These amortization periods are generally more conservative than those of most other public retirement plans and are stricter than the minimum amortization period required under state law.

For newly participating districts that have five or fewer employees who are all within five years of retirement eligibility, any initial UAAL and any subsequent adoption of prior service credits are amortized over a five-year closed amortization period. This ensures that benefits are appropriately funded over the current generation of employees.

Notwithstanding the layered approach, the total UAAL payment may not be less than the required payment obtained by amortizing the entire UAAL over a 20-year period.

If a plan is overfunded, the overfunded actuarial accrued liability (OAAL) is calculated annually using a 30-year open amortization period.

#### Asset valuation method

When determining the actuarial value of assets used for measuring a plan's funded status, TCDRS smooths each year's actuarial investment gains and losses and recognizes them over a five-year period to better reflect the system's long-term investment horizons and to keep employer contribution rates more stable. As actuarial asset investment gains and losses are recognized, they become part of the actuarial gains and losses for the year and are funded according to the amortization policy. The five-year period helps stabilize employer rates while still ensuring that rates are reflective of current market conditions.

In addition, the board has the ability to set aside reserves from investment earnings that are used to help offset future negative economic cycles. These reserves are held separately and are not counted as part of a participating employer's plan assets until they are passed through to employers when determined necessary by the board. Reserves help maintain rate stability for employers. In addition, reserves ensure that employers do not adopt benefit increases based on a temporarily lower plan cost at a high point in a market cycle and, conversely, are not as pressured to immediately reduce benefit levels during a low point in a market cycle.

#### Actuarial assumptions

Demographic and economic assumptions are used to estimate employer liabilities and to determine the amount of funding required from employer contributions as opposed to investment earnings. These assumptions reflect a long-term perspective of 30 years or more. Examples of key economic assumptions include long-term investment return, long-term inflation and annual payroll increase.

Demographic assumptions are the actuary's best estimate of what will happen to TCDRS members and retirees. Examples of demographic assumptions are employment termination rates, retirement rates and retiree mortality rates. A complete listing of all actuarial assumptions can be found in the annual system-wide valuation report.

#### Oversight

The board has established review policies to ensure that actuarial assumptions are appropriate and that the methodology for determining employer contribution rates is being correctly applied.

#### Review of actuarial assumptions

TCDRS' actuarial assumptions are periodically reviewed and revised as deemed necessary to reflect best estimates of future experience. Every four years, the TCDRS consulting actuary conducts an investigation of experience. TCDRS assumptions are compared to plan experience and future expectations, and changes to

the assumptions are recommended as needed. The board adopts actuarial assumptions to be used in the valuation based on the results of this study.

An actuarial audit of every investigation of experience is required and must be performed by an independent auditing actuary to review the consulting actuary's analysis, conclusions and recommendations for accuracy, appropriateness and reasonableness. These audits alternate between a peer review and a full replication audit of the investigation of experience. In a peer review audit of the investigation, the reviewing actuary uses the raw results of the investigation for demographic assumptions as calculated by the consulting actuary to test the conclusions and recommendations. In addition, the reviewing actuary independently analyzes economic assumptions to test the results and recommendations of the consulting actuary. The reviewing actuary also examines the consulting actuary's methods and assumptions for reasonableness and internal consistency. In a full replication audit of the investigation, in addition to performing all of the steps of a peer review, the auditing actuary fully replicates the calculation of the investigation's raw results.

#### Review of employer contribution rates

In order to test accuracy and ensure that the actuarial methods and assumptions are being correctly applied, an audit of the valuation is required every four years. These audits are conducted by an independent reviewing actuary and alternate between a peer review and a full replication audit of the valuation. In the peer review audit of the valuation, the actuary uses a sample of participant data and TCDRS plans to test the results of the valuation. The reviewing actuary also examines the consulting actuary's methods and assumptions for reasonableness and internal consistency. In a full replication audit of the valuation, the auditing actuary performs all the steps of a peer review audit but instead of analyzing sample data and plans, the auditing actuary fully replicates the original actuarial valuation.

#### Review and modification of funding policy

The board will review this policy on a regular basis and may modify this policy at its discretion. Modifications to the policy may be submitted for consideration to the board by staff and/or outside consulting actuaries as circumstances warrant.

### **Appendix F—Glossary**

Actuarially Determined Contribution

The required contribution that is calculated for the reporting period, determined based on the funding policy and the annual valuation.

Deferred Inflows/Outflows of Resources

Portion of changes in net pension liability that is not immediately recognized in Pension Expense. These changes include differences between expected and actual experience, changes in assumptions, and differences between expected and actual earnings on plan investments.

**Discount Rate** 

Single rate of return that, when applied to all projected benefit payments, results in an actuarial present value of projected benefit payments equal to the sum of:

- The actuarial present value of benefit payments projected to be made in future periods where the plan assets are projected to be sufficient to meet benefit payments, calculated using the Long-Term Expected Rate of Return.
- 2) The actuarial present value of projected benefit payments not included in (1), calculated using the Municipal Bond Rate.

**Fiduciary Net Position** 

Equal to market value of assets.

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return

Long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments expected to be used to finance the payment of benefits.

**Municipal Bond Rate** 

Yield or index rate for 20-year, tax-exempt general obligation municipal bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or higher.

**Net Pension Liability / (Asset)** 

Total Pension Liability minus the Plan's Fiduciary Net Position.

**Projected Benefit Payments** 

All benefits estimated to be payable through the pension plan to current active and inactive employees as a result of their past service and expected future service.

**Service Cost** 

The portion of the actuarial present value of projected benefit payments that is attributed to a valuation year.

**Total Pension Liability** 

The portion of actuarial present value of projected benefit payments that is attributable to past periods of member service using the Entry Age Normal cost method based on the requirements of GASB 67 and 68.